THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF LICENTIATE OF ENGINEERING

Infrastructural requirements for indirect and direct electrification of road transportation

THERESE LUNDBLAD

Department of Space, Earth, and Environment CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2024

Infrastructural requirements for indirect and direct electrification of road transportation

THERESE LUNDBLAD

© THERESE LUNDBLAD, 2024.

Department of Space, Earth, and Environment Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden Telephone +46(0)31-772 1000

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2024

Infrastructural requirements for indirect and direct electrification of road transportation

THERESE LUNDBLAD Division of Energy Technology Department of Space, Earth, and Environment Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

This thesis analyzes the integration of electricity and transportation systems for a future in which transportation is increasingly electrified. The focus is on exploring the infrastructures required for the indirect electrification of heavy transportation and the direct electrification of passenger vehicles. The work is motivated by both the increased number of electrified vehicles and a lack of knowledge as to the impacts on the electricity system. The papers included in this thesis develop and apply two different energy systems models.

The first model, which is a cost-minimizing, linear, optimization model for hydrogen refueling stations, was developed to compare the cost-efficiencies of three electrolysis-based systems for providing hydrogen to refueling stations for heavy road transportation: a decentralized, off-grid system for hydrogen production from wind and solar power; a decentralized system connected to the electricity grid; and a centralized grid-connected system with hydrogen transported to refueling stations. The results show that for most of the studied geographic regions, the decentralized grid-connected system gives the lowest costs for hydrogen delivery, while the standalone system entails higher hydrogen production costs. In addition, the centralized system entails lower costs for production and storage than the grid-connected decentralized system, although the additional costs for hydrogen transport increase the total cost.

The second model, the REGAL model, is an open data-based model designed to create a synthetic representation of a low-voltage (LV) grid for a country-size geographic area. This thesis presents the results of calibration and validation against real-world data for the synthetic grid generated by the model. For a region with area >350 km², an average deviation from real-world data of less than $\pm 10\%$ was achieved. For an average area of 1 km², the error was 44.5%, which means that the model is not suitable for analysis at this geographic scale. However, the level of accuracy is deemed sufficient for initial estimations of hosting capacity for larger geographic areas, such as a region or a country.

The REGAL model is used to investigate power system violations linked to exceeding the operational limits (thermal capacity and voltage magnitude) of the Swedish LV grid when electric vehicle (EV) charging is added at different EV shares of the passenger vehicle fleet. Three charging strategies are assumed: direct; cost-minimized (based on an electricity spot price); and mixed charging (a mix of the first two charging strategies). The results show that the number of violations increases with the fleet share of EVs, regardless of the charging strategy, albeit slowly at first. As the fleet share of EVs increases, the number of violations introduced with each additional EV is higher. Most violations occur in areas with a high population density. The charging strategy affects both how often and to what extent the operational limits of the grid are exceeded. On average, the direct charging strategy has a higher frequency (i.e., how often limitations are exceeded) and amplitude (i.e., by how much the limits are surpassed) of violations compared to the other charging strategies. However, when EVs follow the cost-minimizing charging strategy, a stronger coincidence is seen for the EV charging, yielding higher peaks of the maximum load in some areas and, thereby, a higher peak amplitude of power system violations, as compared to direct charging.

Keywords: Hydrogen supply, hydrogen infrastructure, low-voltage grid, home charging, electric vehicles, charging strategies, hosting capacity

List of publications

The thesis is based on the following appended papers, which are referred to in the text by their assigned Roman numerals:

- I. T. Lundblad, M. Taljegård and F. Johnsson. "Centralized and decentralized electrolysis-based hydrogen supply systems for road transportation – A modeling study of current and future costs". *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, vol Volume 48, Issue 12, pp. 4830-4844, 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.10.242.
- **II.** T. Lundblad, M. Taljegard, N. Mattsson, E. Hartvigsson & F. Johnsson. "An open data-based model for generating a synthetic low-voltage grid to estimate hosting capacity". In manuscript.
- **III.** T. Lundblad, M. Taljegard, N. Mattsson, P. Romero Del Rincón & F. Johnsson. "Impacts of electric vehicle charging strategies on low-voltage electricity grids". In manuscript.

Therese Lundblad is the principal author of **Papers I–III** and performed the modeling and analysis for all three papers. Professor Filip Johnsson contributed with discussions and editing to **Papers I–III**, and Dr. Maria Taljegård contributed to the method development in **Papers I–III**, as well as with editing and discussions for all three papers. Dr. Niclas Mattsson contributed to the method development and discussion in **Papers II** and **III**. Dr. Elias Hartvigsson contributed to the method development and discussion in **Paper II**. Pablo Romero Del Rincón contributed to the method development of **Paper II**.

Acknowledgments

This thesis was written to the steady groove of the artists of STAX records and in the process of writing it, I have lost both my favorite mittens and several hours of sleep due to the distraction it provided. However, I am glad to present you with the final product, both because I am proud of the personal journey it represents and because of the joy the people involved and the memories made have brought me.

Behind every researcher in the making, there is a team of people supporting and guiding the work in different ways without whom the work would not be possible. My team is led by my supervisors Maria Taljegård and Filip Johnsson. For that, I would like to express my gratitude. Your guidance and insights have been crucial in every part of this work, from formulating research questions to developing models and writing academic papers. The combination of Maria's knowledge in modeling energy systems and transport, and Filip's contacts and experience makes sure that our research is kept relevant and progressing. Further, having supervisors and mentors with whom to discuss your research constructively is crucial to creating a supportive environment in which new ideas can grow. Which brings me to another collaborator in this work, Niclas Mattson. Niclas, it has been a true pleasure to discuss and develop a model together with you. Gaining your perspective on my work has developed my abilities as both a modeler and a researcher. A thank you to Elias Hartvigsson, on which work the development of my modeling builds, for creating a stable platform from which we could leap into new knowledge. And to the rest of my research group for creating a network of friendly faces ready to support each other on a bad day, week, or month. I look forward to more fika breaks and ice cream runs in the coming years together with you!

In addition to my research context, I am grateful for my family which supports me through all of life's journeys and taught me to enjoy the process and believe in my abilities to learn and conquer the challenges I may encounter along the way. Finally, yet importantly, I would like to direct the biggest thanks to Emil, who makes me smile on both the good and bad days. Thank you for being my biggest supporter (regardless of my performance), for making me pancakes when I am sick, and for reminding me to stop and smell the flowers when they start to bloom.

Therese Lundblad

Varberg, 3rd of April, 2024

Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsv					
Table of Contents					
1.	1. Introduction1				
	1.1	Aim and research topic2			
	1.2	Contents of the papers			
	1.3	Structure of the thesis			
2 Background and related work					
	2.1	The electricity grid			
	2.2	Energy systems modeling			
	2.3	Supplying hydrogen to refueling stations			
	2.4	Modeling distribution grid impacts from electric vehicles7			
	2.4.1	The impacts of EV charging strategies7			
3 Models					
	3.1	The hydrogen refueling station model9			
	3.2	The REGAL model10			
	3.3	Comparison of the two models			
4	Resu	llts and discussion			
	4.1	Cost-efficient hydrogen supply systems for heavy transport			
	4.2	Validation of the generated LV grid15			
	4.3	The impacts of different charging strategies on the LV grid at different EV fleet shares17			
	4.4	Limitations of the REGAL model			
	4.5	General remarks			
5	Main findings25				
6	6 Future work27				
Re	References				

1. Introduction

Transportation accounts for almost 30% of the energy demand in the European Union (EU), and its energy supply is currently dominated by fossil fuels [1, 2]. Towards meeting the EU climate targets, reducing the levels of emissions linked to transportation represents a key challenge, given that the transportation sector accounts for 37% of global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and about 25% of European GHG emissions (excluding international maritime emissions) [3-5]. The increasing electrification of the transportation sector has been identified as a crucial step towards achieving climate targets [5, 6]. Two main pathways exist for the electrification of transport: indirect electrification, and direct electrification. Indirect electrification occurs when electricity is used to produce a so-called electrofuel, which is used in the vehicle, either through converting it back to electricity and employing an electric motor or by using the electrofuel in an internal combustion engine (ICE). Typically, a fuel cell in combination with an electric motor is preferred over an ICE due to its higher efficiency. Direct electrification of transportation means that electricity is charged directly to the vehicle and stored in a battery. This stored energy is subsequently used to propel the vehicle using an electric motor in a battery electric vehicle (BEV). Direct electrification typically has a higher efficiency, while indirect electrification has the advantages of faster refueling time, greater range, and the possibility for longterm storage of fuels [7, 8]. Furthermore, a drawback associated with direct electrification is the larger demand for battery capacity, for which material extraction and processing face challenges regarding environmental burdens and resource scarcity. Typically, direct electrification is the preferred method due to its substantially higher efficiency. However, for vehicle segments where this is not possible (for example, due to restrictions related to weight, range or charging time), indirect electrification via hydrogen (the simplest electrofuel) is a complementing technology, enabling transport without tailpipe emissions in situations where direct electrification is not an option [8, 9].

The road transportation demand can categorized according to what is transported (i.e., passengers or goods) or the type of vehicle used (bicycle, car, bus, light-duty vehicle, heavy-duty vehicle, etc.). There are different challenges associated with different demand segments. For example, both buses and trucks are heavy vehicles, but for city buses and short-haul trucks, direct electrification has been introduced to some degree, while for long-range buses and heavier or long-range trucks, commercially viable options are currently lacking. For heavy road transport, electrification is occurring slowly, with electric buses making up 9% and electric trucks making up only 0.5% of the vehicles sold in Europe in Year 2022 [10]. To decarbonize heavy road transport, both direct and indirect electrification are needed [10]. In addition, increased efficiency related to the flow of goods is needed to decarbonize this sector, while fulfilling other sustainability goals [10]. Indirect electrification using hydrogen as an energy carrier has been identified as a possible solution in the transition to a sustainable transportation sector, especially for heavy freight transportation [9, 11–13]. Although hydrogen is scarcely used for transportation at present, it is employed extensively in industry. Hydrogen can be produced from a variety of sources, with steam methane reforming (SMR) of natural gas currently accounting for the largest share of production, followed by oil reforming and coal gasification. These processes are associated with significant GHG emissions. However, when it comes to hydrogen use in the energy transition, water electrolysis using electricity from carbon-neutral generation is an option [14–16].

To enable a shift to hydrogen-fueled heavy transport, it will be crucial to introduce a network of hydrogen refueling stations for which the hydrogen supply is both reliant and efficient. In the EU, the regulation relevant to the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure states that hydrogen refueling stations should be deployed every 200 km in the trans-European transport network (TEN-T) [17]. The supplying of hydrogen to refueling stations has been evaluated in several studies [8, 18–28]. Hydrogen production can be located at the site of the refueling station, i.e., in a decentralized system, or it can be centrally located in combination with a distribution system that transports hydrogen from the production site to the refueling stations [21]. A global overview of the current trend in relation to the installation of hydrogen refueling stations has been carried out by Samsun et al. [8]. They have shown that the

number of hydrogen refueling stations is growing, although they conclude that an increase in the rate of new installations is needed to meet the target numbers (for example, the previously mentioned EU target of refueling stations placed every 200 km) in the coming years. For hydrogen that is produced through electrolysis, the production cost is heavily dependent upon the cost of electricity [28], and estimates of the levelized cost of hydrogen (LCOH) available in the literature (e.g., [19, 25]) are based on historical electricity price data. A future electricity system with high shares of variable renewable electricity (VRE) production might generate more-severe fluctuations in electricity prices, thereby altering the conditions for hydrogen production [29]. It is, therefore, relevant to investigate the conditions for hydrogen production in a future electricity system with larger shares of non-dispatchable electricity generation.

For passenger transport, both the energy demand and the levels of GHG emissions are dominated by car usage. In addition to a shift to less-carbon-intensive transportation modes (such as walking, cycling, and public transport), there is a need for measures that decrease the GHG emissions from vehicles, if we are to meet the GHG emissions targets [5]. There is an increasing share of electric vehicles (EVs) in the passenger vehicle fleet in several countries [6]. In 2022, EVs accounted for 22% of new registrations of passenger vehicles in Europe when considering both BEVs and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs) [6]. This development has been supported by various subsidies and the trend is likely to continue [5] with, for example, the EU phasing out ICE vehicles [30]. As the number of EVs increases, the loads from EVs charging through the electricity grid increase.

For vehicles that are mainly powered by an on-board battery, electricity needs to be supplied by a charging infrastructure. This charging infrastructure may be needed at the home location, at work, or in public areas and needs to be supported by the electricity grid. Traditionally, electricity grids were built to distribute electricity to consumers with a more or less inflexible load. As more sectors are electrified, including the transportation sector, and electricity production becomes increasingly decentralized and more-volatile (from increasing shares of wind and solar power), greater stress is exerted on the local electricity grid and on its operational ability to connect production and demand in both space and time. Several studies have been conducted on passenger EVs and their impacts on electricity systems (for reviews, see Nazari-Heris et al. [31], Kumar et al. [32], and Nour et al. [33]). For example, Hedegaard et al. [34] have assessed how large-scale implementation of EVs would influence the northern European electricity systems. They have shown that enabling intelligent EV charging and discharging can support variable renewable electricity production, although they conclude that the effects of EVs on electricity systems will vary across different countries. The impacts of EV charging on electricity generation and storage have been investigated using energy systems modeling by Taljegard et al. [35], who reach the conclusion that controlled charging of EVs can reduce investments in peak power capacity, reduce the need for storage technologies, and stimulate increased shares of solar and wind power generation. However, few studies have included the capacities of distribution grids, which means that it is not considered if the distribution grid can supply the electricity needed for the studied rates of EV charging. For those studies in which the distribution grid has been considered, the geographic scope is typically very narrow (such as in the study of a distribution grid in Sweden by Luthander et al. [36]). Thus, there is a need to study on a general level the extent to which the distribution grid has the capacity to supply the electricity needed for the charging of EVs.

1.1 Aim and research topic

The overall aim of the thesis is to analyze the integration of electricity and transportation systems as transportation becomes increasingly electrified. This thesis focuses on exploring the infrastructures required for the indirect electrification of heavy transportation and the direct electrification of passenger vehicles. The work is motivated by both the increase in the number of electrified vehicles in combination with further policy incentives that support the development and a lack of knowledge as to how this affects the electricity system.

This thesis is based on the three appended papers (**Papers I–III**). **Paper I** investigates the infrastructure for indirect electrification and aims to answer the research question:

• How do centralized and decentralized hydrogen supply systems, as well as standalone and gridconnected systems compare in terms of their cost-efficiency?

Papers II and **III** investigate the infrastructure for direct electrification, with the focus on a low-voltage (LV) grid and its capacity to host large-scale home charging of EVs, so as to answer the research questions:

- How can the LV grid of a larger area, such as a country, be modeled using open data?
- What types of issues are likely to occur with the LV grid due to the home-charging of electric vehicles?
- How severe are the impacts of these issues on the LV grid likely to be?
- When are exceedances of grid capacity due to EV charging likely to occur?
- What are the impacts of different EV charging strategies on the LV grid?

1.2 Contents of the papers

Paper I describes comparisons of different electrolysis-based systems for supplying hydrogen to refueling stations. Previous studies have not compared different supply systems using the same methodology. Therefore, centralized and decentralized electricity grid-connected systems are compared alongside a standalone system in a cost-minimizing linear optimization model.

Paper II develops and applies a model for residential LV grids that generates a synthetic LV grid from open data. This model can be used to run grid simulations for areas for which grid capacities are not publicly available. For the few similar models that exist, validation data are usually not publicly available, which means that the accuracy and transferability of the model results are unsatisfactory. Therefore, the model used in this work is calibrated and validated against real-world data, and the accuracy of the generated grid is discussed in this paper.

Paper III uses the model developed in **Paper II** to assess how different charging strategies influence the issues that are likely to appear in LV grids as the EV fleet share expands. When these issues occur and their severity levels are also evaluated. Compared to previous studies, this represents a deeper analysis of by how much, and how often, the operational limits of the LV grid are exceeded.

The work presented in this thesis was carried out in the period of 2021–2024.

1.3 Structure of the thesis

The thesis is based on the three amended papers and this introductory essay. Chapter 2 describes electricity systems and modeling, as well as relevant previous work done on the topic. Chapter 3 explains the models used in this work and the contexts in which they evolved. Chapter 4 presents and discusses the key results from this work. Chapter 5 presents the main findings, while Chapter 6 identifies areas for future work.

2 Background and related work

This section provides background information on: the current electricity grid (Section 2.1); modeling of the electricity system (Section 2.2); the results of previous research related to hydrogen refueling stations (Section 2.3); and the modeling of distribution grid impacts from the charging of EVs (Section 2.4). For Sections 2.1 and 2.2, a general overview is provided, while Sections 2.3 and 2.4 focus on identifying what relevant previous research has been carried out on the topic.

2.1 The electricity grid

The basic layout of an electricity system involves electricity generation that is connected to endconsumers via a grid that consists of power lines, cables, and transformers. This electricity grid can be delineated according to different voltage levels, as different voltage levels in the grid serve different purposes. Figure 1 shows an overview of the voltage levels in the different parts of the electricity grid. Different terms are used for some parts of the power system, meaning that for some parts, more than one term is included in the figure. The transmission network transports a large amount of electric energy over long distances, from the large centralized electricity generators to the sub-transmission network, also known as the *regional grid* [37]. This transmission is carried out at the highest voltage levels in the grid, to reduce losses [37]. The sub-transmission grid connects the transmission grid to the distribution grids, so its function is similar to that of a transmission grid, although due to techno-economic factors, transmission occurs at a lower voltage level [38]. This part of the grid is also the connection point for intermediate-size electricity producers [37]. The sub-transmission grid typically has more than one connection to the transmission grid [38]. Distribution grids, sometimes referred to as *local grids*, have the primary purpose of distributing electricity from the sub-transmission grid to end-users [38]. It also hosts some small-scale electricity generation [37]. The distribution grid is mostly operated as a radial network, meaning that there is only one path from the higher voltage level to the end-user [38]. The primary part of the distribution grid (the higher voltage levels of the distribution grid) is commonly referred to as the medium-voltage (MV) grid. Some actors include the sub-transmission grid in the MV grid, while others regard it as part of the high-voltage grid. End-users have different power demands and are, therefore, connected at different voltage levels to the distribution grid [38]. Simply put, the higher the power demand, the higher the voltage level at which the connection is made. Depending on the power demand at a specific location, electrified transportation can connect to different parts of the distribution grid. To determine if the distribution grid has the capacity to handle this new load, further analysis is needed. The study of direct electrification of passenger vehicles included in this work models the LV grid. This is because it focuses on charging strategies for home-charging of EVs, and residential homes being connected to the electricity grid on the LV level.



Figure 1. Schematic overview of the voltage levels in the different parts of the electricity grid.

2.2 Energy systems modeling

Energy systems modeling is a field that is dedicated to understanding how different parts of energy systems can interact and develop. This includes both studies of future demands and the supplies of

different technologies and sectors. Ringkjøb et al. [39] reviewed 75 currently used modeling tools for studying energy and electricity systems (where *energy system* is a broader term that includes energy carriers and energy demands other than for electricity), describing a wide range of geographic and temporal resolutions, purposes, and methodologies. Typical inputs are the technical properties of the electricity supply and demand, the efficiencies of energy conversion, and the costs of components [40]. Some common purposes of the modeling efforts include studying sector coupling, interactions between different emerging technologies, cost-optimal solutions to supply a given demand, and studying the likely evolution over time of the different energy systems [40]. Common methodologies used include linear optimization (usually with the goal of minimizing the total cost), energy system simulation (typically, forecasts), electricity market models, and qualitative modeling [40].

Power system analysis (or power grid analysis) is a related tool for considering the main aspects of power system operation. Modeling usually revolves around assessing electricity grids under either steady-state (or near-steady-state) operation or during disturbances or faults [41]. Typically, a power flow analysis is used in which the currents (i.e., the active and reactive power flows) and voltages, and other relevant qualities of the power, in different parts of an electricity system are calculated [41]. A full power flow analysis entails a complex, non-linear set of equations, which increases the difficulty associated with solving the set of equations that it includes [41]. Simplifications, such as assuming that the load is balanced between phases and that the power supply originates from a single source, enable a linear set of equations to be representative and, therefore, create a system that is easily solvable with reasonable demands on computational resources [38]. Compared to energy systems modeling, which typically has a broad geographic scope, such as an entire continent, power system analysis typically studies a small region within a country.

2.3 Supplying hydrogen to refueling stations

Tang et al. [19] compared hydrogen production at refueling stations in Sweden that are run in island mode (i.e., not connected to the electric grid), using dedicated wind and solar power units with a similar, albeit grid-connected, system; and they concluded that grid connection tends to achieve a lower LCOH. However, since Tang et al. [19] assumed a constant hydrogen demand using historical spot market prices for the electricity supplied to the electrolyzer, these prices may not be representative of a future electricity system that has a higher share of VRE.

An economic analysis of a standalone wind-powered system for supplying hydrogen to refueling stations in Sweden has been conducted by Siyal et al. [18]. They conclude that such a setup could help reach the goal of a fossil-free transport sector in Sweden, although the setup investigated was not compared with other systems for hydrogen production. Göcek and Kale [23] used a techno-economic analysis to assess the feasibility of a hydrogen refueling station powered by either a wind-photovoltaics (PV)-battery or wind-battery system located on the island of Gökçeada in Turkey. They pointed out that such systems could be feasible for the chosen site and that a hybrid wind-PV-battery system yields a lower LCOH than a wind-battery system [23]. Janssen et al. [20] studied off-grid hydrogen production facilities in different European countries. They found that electrolyzer systems that supply electricity using both wind power and solar PV to power an electrolyzer have the lowest costs in nearly all of the countries studied. They further conclude that with projected cost reductions, off-grid hydrogen production from renewable sources could yield a cost similar to that of conventional hydrogen production [20]. That study did not target the transport sector, and hydrogen compression and storage were not included. Furthermore, the study did not consider hydrogen production systems that are connected to an electric grid with renewable electricity. Nistor et al. [25] performed a techno-economic study of a hydrogen refueling station in the UK, focusing on the short-to-medium-term representation of technology and costs, comparing a wind-powered system run in island mode with a similar gridconnected system. For the grid-powered system, a fixed electricity price was used. They found that the grid-connected and standalone wind-powered systems had a similar LCOH; however, the gridconnected system had a larger share of the cost as operational costs, while the island-mode system had a larger investment cost. They expressed a need for further investigation of the tradeoffs that occur between installed wind power capacity and hydrogen storage size [25].

Ulleberg and Hancke [26] studied hydrogen production in a Norwegian context using two small-scale production cases that employ water electrolysis. In the first case, local hydropower was used to power an electrolyzer onsite, while the second case looked at a hydrogen refueling station, comparing on-site hydrogen production with a centralized supply system. They observed lower costs for hydrogen production in the second case, due in large extent to increased utilization [26]. In that study, optimization was not performed and no estimations were made of how their defined cases would be affected by changes in the electricity system composition and any consequent changes in electricity prices.

Although the abovementioned studies have provided valuable insights into the cost of hydrogen production for the transport sector, studies that evaluate multiple hydrogen supply systems are lacking. For situations in which there is more than one supply system, the studies have been limited to modeling their costs using historical electricity price profiles.

2.4 Modeling distribution grid impacts from electric vehicles

Reviews of the methods and tools for estimating the numbers of EVs and amounts of solar PV that can be hosted by the capacities of current LV grids – hereinafter referred to as the *hosting capacity* – have been presented by Umoh et al. [42] and Carmelito and Filho [43]. An additional review of the calculations for hosting capacity has been presented by Abideen et al. [44]. All of these publications describe methodologies for the evaluation of hosting capacity and their strengths and weaknesses. The reviews have characterized previous studies based on the types of methodologies used for predicting how new loads influence electricity grids. Three types of methodologies for adding new loads have been identified: deterministic simulations; stochastic methodologies; and time-series methods [43]. In the reviews of Umoh et al. [42] and Mulenga et al. [45], the evaluation criteria for the determination of hosting capacity have been addressed. Both studies have concluded that most studies of hosting capacities have used the same three performance indices: voltage magnitude; line or cable loading; and transformer loading. Some studies have included additional evaluation criteria, such as power loss and voltage imbalance [46–49].

The three methods used for the evaluation of hosting capacity assume that the capacity of the investigated grid is known. If the real grid capacities are unknown, an estimation of current grid capacities is needed. Currently, it is often difficult to have access to grid capacities relevant to a larger geographic area, since the operation of electricity grids, especially distribution grids, is typically split among multiple actors, and national security restrictions limit access to the data. One option is to gain access to the grid capacities for a smaller area, so as to perform a case study and subsequently extrapolate the results to a larger area [36]. Due to the lack of real grid capacities, some studies (e.g., Veldman et al. [50]) have used typical grids and extrapolated the results to larger areas. An alternative method is to develop a synthetic grid based on data regarding the number of customers in an area and the grid design principles, and thereafter use that grid to analyze the hosting capacities for EVs and solar PVs [51–53], applying different EV charging strategies.

2.4.1 The impacts of EV charging strategies

The charging of EVs can be unidirectional or bidirectional. Bidirectional charging means that electricity can also be transferred from the vehicle to the household or to the electricity grid [also known as V2X if referring to feeding electricity back into any type of system, or vehicle to grid (V2G) if feeding back to the electricity grid]. Furthermore, charging can be controlled or uncontrolled. Uncontrolled charging of EVs, i.e., typically corresponding to a situation in which the EV owners start charging directly when arriving at home, can increase the load during hours of the day that already have high loads, thereby imposing a new stress on the electricity grid [33, 54]. However, if a controlled charging strategy is

applied, such as that in response to a price signal, there is a potential to lower the impact on the grid, as well as to provide services to the electricity grid when, for example, applying V2G [33, 50, 54–62].

Zaferanlouei et al. [60] modeled the impacts of different charging strategies in a Norwegian case study of a grid that included 32 transformers [from the MV level to the LV level] and 826 electricity consumers. They used an optimal power flow model with non-linear power flow constraints and considered three different charging scenarios: direct charging; cost-minimized charging with grid constraints; and cost-minimized charging without grid constraints. They found that for the studied grid, the capacity limit when using the direct charging scenario was in the range of 18%–27% EVs. Beyond this range, thermal violations began to occur. Their cost-minimized charging scenario allowed for higher penetration levels of EVs than in the direct charging scenario, achieving up to 36% EVs before thermal violations began to occur. However, only the scenario that took grid constraints into account could handle up to 100% EVs in the studied grid. They concluded that if one wanted to achieve 100% EVs then either the distribution grids would have to be strengthened or a scheduling mechanism would have to be applied that would take the operational limits of the grid into account [60].

Veldman et al. [50] studied, using energy systems modeling, how different unidirectional EV charging strategies affect distribution grids in The Netherlands. They considered three different charging scenarios for EVs: cost-minimized charging; peak load-minimized charging; and direct charging. They allocated EVs to transformers in a set of typical distribution grids in The Netherlands, to estimate the distribution grid impacts. They concluded that cost-minimized charging could lead to high load peaks in the distribution grid and, therefore, a strong need for grid reinforcement, and that peak loadminimized charging significantly reduced the need for grid reinforcement. They postulated that the reason for the high load peaks in the cost-minimized scenario was that all the EVs were acting on the same price signal and, thereby, collectively shifting their charging to the same time and enhancing their peak demand [50]. However, their cost-minimized charging scenario used an exogenous electricity price profile and did not account for how changes to the electricity load might influence electricity prices. Furthermore, their use of typical grids means that extrapolation of the results to other regions and estimations of problems on a general level is missing. The work in this thesis investigates an entire country as the geographic region – using all of Sweden as a case study – for different EV shares of the passenger vehicle fleet and applying three different charging strategies. Furthermore, the extent to which the operational limits of the grid are exceeded is quantified, as well as when in time these events are likely to occur.

3 Models

This section includes a brief description of the types and characteristics of the models used in this work. For details of the models, see **Papers I–III**.

The statistician George Box once wrote that "All models are wrong, but some are useful" [63]. In line with this statement, a key to creating useful research is to use a model that is wrong in a correct manner. As with models, most of the results from models are wrong in one way or another, but some of them are useful. In an article published in 1976, Box further writes "Since all models are wrong the scientist must be alert to what is importantly wrong." [64]. This is important to keep in mind when formulating research questions, choosing a methodology, and analyzing the results. The studies in this thesis were performed by developing and using two separate energy systems models. Some of the key concepts of the models are energy conservation and linear optimization. The first model used in this work is a costminimizing linear optimization model for hydrogen refueling stations, which was developed to compare the cost-efficiencies of different systems for providing hydrogen to refueling stations, as applied in **Paper I**. **Papers II** and **III** both apply the reference electricity grid analysis model, REGAL, which was first presented by Hartvigsson et al. [52] and is further developed in this work. The REGAL model is a simplified form of power system model for a larger geographic region. In this work, considerable changes have been made to the model to serve new purposes and increase accuracy when analyzing new research questions.

3.1 The hydrogen refueling station model

Paper I of this work compares the costs and efficiencies of three electrolysis-based hydrogen supply systems for heavy road transportation: a decentralized, off-grid system for hydrogen production from wind and solar power (Dec-Sa); a decentralized system connected to the electricity grid (Dec-Gc); and a centralized grid-connected electrolyzer with hydrogen being transported to refueling stations (Cen-Gc)(Figure 2). A cost-minimizing optimization model was developed in which the hydrogen production is designed to meet the demand at refueling stations at the lowest total cost for two timeframes: one with current electricity prices, and one with estimated future prices. The two timeframes also come with different assumptions regarding costs and efficiency levels (detailed in Paper I) for components such as electrolyzers and hydrogen storage tanks. The model was developed and applied to compare the system efficiency levels and costs of hydrogen delivery for the three hydrogen supply systems, and included the electricity source, energy conversion to hydrogen, and the distribution and storage of hydrogen. Optimization was carried out to satisfy an exogenous hydrogen demand profile at the lowest total cost. Although the methodology could be applied to any region, Sweden and the electricity price area SE3 were chosen as the main case and the results in this thesis are presented for this region only. In addition, three regions (Ireland, Croatia-Slovenia-Hungary, and western Spain) were modeled to determine how system costs are influenced by different electricity system compositions, as well as by different potentials for wind and solar power. The results for these additional regions are presented in Paper I.



Figure 2. Visualization of the hydrogen supply systems investigated in this work. For the Dec-Sa and Dec-Gc systems, hydrogen production occurs onsite, while the Cen-Gc system requires the transportation of hydrogen. LRC; Lined rock cavern (storage).

Compared to other studies of hydrogen refueling systems, the present study considers multiple system setups with the same assumptions, whereas most of the previous studies were limited to one supply system (e.g., [18, 20]). Furthermore, the few studies that included multiple supply systems considered only one electricity price profile (as in [19, 25]). As the electricity price was concluded to be a substantial part of the hydrogen production cost [28], this work considers multiple electricity price profiles and investigates if and how they alter the results for the system setup and operation.

3.2 The REGAL model

Paper II presents a description of the REGAL model. However, a brief description is included in this section as an important part of the work of this thesis was the development of the REGAL model. Furthermore, the modeling with the REGAL model is more complex than the modeling for the hydrogen refueling station, so a more-detailed explanation of the methodology is needed to place the results in context. The REGAL model uses open data to create a synthetic LV grid representation (see Figure 1), which enables grid simulations of areas for which the grid properties are unknown. This synthetic grid can then be used to simulate how new technologies, in this case, large-scale home-charging of EVs, affect the LV grid and whether the operational limits of the grids would be exceeded. The REGAL model was developed for Sweden, whereby the country was divided into squares of 1×1 km², herein termed *grid cells*. Only residential loads are considered in the model, so unpopulated grid cells are excluded, resulting in 104,853 populated grid cells for Sweden.

In **Paper III**, a separate linear optimization energy systems model (named Multinode) is run to generate EV charging profiles that are subsequently used as inputs to the REGAL model. Figure 3 shows an overview of the main modeling blocks of the REGAL model and the interactions between the two models. In Figure 3, modeling blocks are shaded blue, and input data are shaded orange. Thus, the EV charging profiles are shaded orange because they are an input to the REGAL model, although they are an output of the Multinode model. Not all of the input data for Multinode are shown in Figure 3. The dashed line connecting the driving patterns to the EV charging profiles indicates that not all charging strategies (described later) are created using the Multinode model. More information about the Multinode model is presented in **Paper III** (see also Göransson et al. [65]).

The REGAL model consists of three main modeling blocks (described in detail in **Paper II**) that: (1) generate a synthetic LV grid; (2) perform grid simulation when adding EV charging to the residential load; and (3) evaluate power system violations. In the REGAL model, a power system violation is when the operational limits of the grid are exceeded. The violations are classified as either *voltage*, where a violation occurs if the voltage magnitude fluctuates more than what is allowed according to national regulations, or *thermal*, where a violation occurs when the thermal capacity of a component is exceeded. The REGAL model considers thermal violations in both transformers and cables.



Figure 3. Overview of the modeling blocks in the REGAL model and the interactions with the Multinode model. The Multinode model is used to generate the EV charging profiles, which can then be used to run the REGAL model. Thus, the EV charging profiles represent both input and output data.

A reference dataset of real grid capacities was collated within the work of this thesis. The reference dataset consists of real-world data supplied by several Swedish grid operators, representing both large and small operators. This dataset was used to calibrate model parameters and validate the geographic scope for which the model is suitable for analysis. The dataset covers 9,477 out of the 104,853 grid cells applied in this work. The data per grid cell consist of: (i) the annual electricity demands for residential and commercial customers; (ii) the number of transformers with different capacities; and (iii) the cable lengths. Compared to other studies of how EVs affect distribution grids, the research presented in this work captures a larger geographic area, which is enabled by the generation of a synthetic LV grid.

Three EV charging strategies (Table 1) are applied to create charging profiles, i.e., to describe when charging occurs for the different EVs, which are then introduced one at a time to the REGAL model. The charging strategies are all created based on the driving patterns derived from a dataset of the GPS logs of 426 privately driven passenger vehicles with ICEs [66]. In this study, it is assumed that the EVs will have the same driving pattern as conventional ICE vehicles. The use of ICE vehicle driving patterns is a necessary approximation, due to the lack of driving data for EVs. The vehicles were randomly selected from the Swedish vehicle registry. The sample is representative of passenger vehicles in Sweden in terms of fleet composition, vehicle ownership, household size, household income, and the distributions of passenger vehicles in larger and smaller towns and rural areas [66].

The direct charging strategy assumes that charging occurs directly upon arrival at the home location, while the cost-minimized charging strategy tries to minimize the charging costs (in terms of the electricity spot price) while retaining the state of charge for upcoming trips. The third strategy is a mix of the first two strategies in which 30% of the vehicles charge according to the cost-minimized charging strategy and the remaining EVs apply direct charging. For the cost-minimized charging strategy, as well as for the cost-minimizing vehicles in the mixed charging strategy, the charging of the 426 vehicles is optimized in each region according to when it is most cost-efficient to charge them from the electricity system point-of-view (including both investment and running costs), thereby creating the EV charging

profiles. The following constraints are imposed: (i) the vehicles cannot be charged when driving; (ii) charging at the home destination is prioritized and charging outside the home destination is performed only if the battery size is insufficient to cover the trip; (iii) all trips need to be fulfilled, i.e., driving is prioritized; and (vi) the maximum charging power is set at 6.9 kW.

Table 1. The three charging strategies for electric vehicles investigated in this work.

Direct charging A charging strategy in which charging is done directly when arriving at the h	ome
destination until the battery is fully charged, using the maximum charging power	(6.9
kW).	
Cost-minimized charging* The cost of charging in terms of the electricity spot price is minimized for all cars,	i.e.,
considering the distribution of the EVs across the electricity price areas (SE1-S	E4),
with the condition that the vehicles always have the state of charge required	l for
upcoming trips. No limitations of the LV grid are considered when vehicles de	cide
when to charge.	
Mixed charging* In this mix, 70% of the fleet applies direct charging, while 30% of the fleet cha	rges
according to the cost-minimized charging strategy.	

*The EV charging profiles in this charging strategy are obtained from modeling the northern European electricity system with the goal of minimizing the investment and running costs for the power system.

The mathematical formulations and methodological choices in the REGAL model are described in detail in **Paper II**, and the development of EV charging profiles with different charging strategies is described in **Paper III** (and is, therefore, excluded from this thesis).

3.3 Comparison of the two models

The two models, one for indirect electrification and one for direct electrification of road transportation, are inherently different in terms of how they function and which systems they deal with. Table 2 provides a comparison of the key features of the two models developed.

	Hydrogen refueling station model	The REGAL model
Paper(s)	Ι	II and III
Syntax	GAMS	Julia
Type of model	Linear optimization	Grid simulation
Temporal scope and resolution	Run over 1 year with 1-h timesteps, present-day and future case	Run over 1 year with 10-min timesteps, representation of current grid but different fleet shares of EVs
Geographic scope and resolution	Representing a hydrogen refueling station with conditions for Sweden, western Spain, Ireland or Croatia-Slovenia- Hungary	All of Sweden, divided into squares of 1×1 km ²
Main inputs	Costs and technical properties of components, hourly electricity price, hourly demand, hourly electricity generation from solar PV and wind turbines	Distributed data for the numbers of inhabitants, apartments, and single-family dwellings, number of vehicles, costs and technical properties of components, national grid regulations, driving patterns, household load profiles, and fleet share of EVs.
Main outputs	Investments in components, total system cost, hourly hydrogen production, levels in hydrogen storage	Synthetic representation of the LV grid, frequency (i.e., how often) and amplitude (i.e., by how much) of exceedance of the operational limits of the LV grid, and when exceedances occur, what types of operational limits are exceeded.

4 Results and discussion

This section presents and discusses some of the main results from the work included in this thesis. Additional results are presented in the individual appended papers.

4.1 Cost-efficient hydrogen supply systems for heavy transport

Figure 4 shows the levelized cost of hydrogen (LCOH) for the different hydrogen supply systems for the two studied timeframes, assuming the current and future costs for both investments and electricity. The electricity costs shown in Figure 4 include the costs for electricity used for hydrogen production and compression. The results show that the lowest costs for delivering hydrogen in southern Sweden, in the range of 2.2–3.3 ℓ /kgH₂, are achieved with the decentralized, grid-connected system (Dec-Gc). For the centralized hydrogen supply system, Cen-Gc, somewhat lower costs are achieved for the production and storage of hydrogen, although the additional cost for hydrogen transportation brings the total cost to 3.7–4.8 ℓ /kgH₂, which is 31% higher for the current case and 41% higher for the future case, as compared with the Dec-Gc system. The Dec-Sa system, which is disconnected from the electric grid, is associated with the highest LCOH, mainly due to the higher costs for storage and electricity production, as shown in Figure 4. For all the tested systems, lower costs are achieved in future cases than in the case corresponding to the present conditions, as seen in Figure 4. This is due to the assumed reduction of investment costs and the higher energy efficiency of electrolyzers. For the grid-connected systems, these are also the main contributors to the lower cost for this system, although electricity price variations also affect during which hours hydrogen is produced and, thereby, the electricity costs.



Figure 4. Levelized costs of hydrogen delivery for the three hydrogen supply systems (Dec-Sa, Dec-GC, Cen-GC) and the two timeframes (Current and Future) investigated. Source: Paper I.

Figure 5 shows the hydrogen production costs for different electricity price profiles when using the hydrogen refueling station optimization model for the decentralized, grid-connected supply system (Dec-Gc). The results in **Paper I** include the individual years in the period of 2015–2020, and a future case, which means that the results for 2021–2023 are new and are not included in **Paper I**. There are differences in the LCOH values between the modeled years, supporting the notion that electricity prices influence the LCOH. For the years included in **Paper I**, similar capacities were seen for electrolyzers and storage units, meaning that they only differed in terms of electricity costs. However, for the newly introduced years, some differences in investments in hydrogen storage and electrolyzer capacity are seen. The main anomaly is apparent for Year 2022, when electricity prices were higher in general, but were also more-variable than in the preceding years. This led to Year 2022 having larger investments

in both electrolyzer capacity and hydrogen storage, to enable the shifting of hydrogen production to hours with lower electricity prices. As the other years do not have such high electricity prices, the increased investments in storage capacity as compared to other years might not be reasonable. To identify the optimal solution if more than 1 year is considered, a cost-optimal solution for the period of 2019–2023 was modeled, which is included in Figure 5. The result of the co-optimized solution for multiple years shows that it is not feasible to invest in larger storage capacities based on a high electricity price in a single year. However, since future electricity prices reflect both national policies and geopolitical developments, as was the case for Year 2022, this introduces uncertainty as to which electrolyzer and storage capacities remain cost-optimal over time. However, it should be noted that even for the case with the largest storage capacity, the storage covers the demand for only approximately 2 days and 7 hours, which means that only the high electricity price periods are avoided, rather than production being shifted by several weeks or months. From a security of supply perspective, the storage capacities derived in the cost-optimal solution are rather small compared to the demand. To ensure continuous operation during hours without electricity supply, larger storage units are needed. However, the value of self-sufficiency is not considered in the optimization model. Furthermore, it does not include any buffer in the storage capacity that would allow trucks to refuel at different times than those laid out in the assumed pattern. For this reason, the cost figures presented in this thesis should be seen as the lowest possible average LCOH under the given assumptions related to costs and efficiencies.

The different cost-optimal solutions for different years illustrate the difficulty associated with estimating which system will be cost-optimal in the near future based on historical data. Considering the results presented in **Paper I** and comparing them to the additional years included in the updated version of Figure 5, different results are achieved due to the different patterns in electricity prices in the past years. At the time that **Paper I** was written, the electricity prices up until Year 2021 were available, and the last two years (2020 and 2021) were seen as being unrepresentative due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which was the rationale for using Year 2019 as the basis for the studies of current costs in **Paper I**. Little did we know that the coming years would create a new geopolitical energy landscape with Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022, which heavily influenced the electricity prices in that year. Although the electricity prices differ between the years, the Dec-Gc system still has the lowest LCOH for all the studied years.



Figure 5. Hydrogen production costs using different electricity price profiles for the decentralized grid-connected hydrogen supply systems. All results are for the year stated on the x-axis, with the exception of 2029–2023, which is a co-optimization for the 5 years listed. The results are from Paper I (period of 2015–2020 and the future estimation) and new results derived for this thesis (period of 2021–2023 and the co-optimized results for 2019–2023).

As there are uncertainties regarding the cost of the hydrogen supply, the results in **Paper I**, as well as the new results presented here, should be regarded as estimates of the differences between different types of hydrogen supply systems, rather than as estimates of the hydrogen supply costs in absolute terms. In addition, the estimates for the future case should not be seen as predictions, but instead as a comparison between today's electricity system and future systems with more-volatile electricity prices.

The results obtained from the modeling of hydrogen refueling stations with different hydrogen supply systems show that different systems are associated with different costs. The results presented in this work represent optimized solutions with perfect foresight. Therefore, it is likely that real-world refueling stations would need larger storage systems than those presented in this study, as there must be some element of flexibility to a cost-optimal solution. In addition, the hydrogen will be sold at a price that ensures a profit margin. The real price of hydrogen delivery will, to a significant extent, depend on the extent of utilization of the hydrogen refueling station. This means that the market penetration level will affect the profitability of introducing hydrogen refueling stations. Thus, real-world conditions will increase the costs of the hydrogen supply systems, and these increases may differ across the different hydrogen supply systems.

The hydrogen refueling station model is a simple model that has several limitations. As an example, the model optimization in this work is designed to minimize the total system cost, which does not necessarily provide the optimal system configuration, as there may be important design factors other than costs. For example, an advantage of the Dec-Sa system that is not valued in the model is its self-sufficiency and lack of sensitivity to technical changes in the other parts of the electricity system. Another potential advantage of such a system is the possibility to establish refueling stations in areas where the electricity grid capacity cannot accommodate a grid-connected solution, or where development of the grid is more costly than assumed in this study. A centralized system, such as the Cen-Gc system, could also be an option in areas that have limitations related to grid capacity, since for a production site in a centralized system, especially one with distribution through hydrogen pipelines, there is more freedom with regard to the placement of the hydrogen production site. This means that hydrogen refueling stations could be placed in areas with poor grid availability and still have access to clean hydrogen, as long as the refueling station is connected to the network of hydrogen pipelines.

4.2 Validation of the generated LV grid

Development of the REGAL model included in this thesis involves the validation of the model against the calibration dataset with information provided by electricity grid operators. Validation was carried out on both the grid cell level and group level. The average deviation and the average absolute error over all grid cells, when aggregating grid cells over seven regions in Sweden, are shown in Figure 6. Definitions of the 'error' and 'deviation' terms are found in **Paper II**. The regions are sorted in Figure 6 such that the number of grid cells included in the region increases with the region number. This means that regions R1 and R2 (see Table 6 in **Paper II**), which have the largest average deviations (above $\pm 10\%$) also have the lowest numbers of grid cells. These regions also have the highest population densities.

Grouping the grid cells into the municipalities and regions in which their midpoints lie, the results for comparisons of the transformer capacities in the model and the real-world data are shown in Figure 7. The number on the *y*-axis shows the average deviation in transformer capacity for the grouping, so it indicates if there is a bias towards over- or under-dimensioning the transformers in the group. For most of the municipalities and regions present in the calibration dataset, the entire area of the municipality is not represented. The dashed line in Figure 7 shows the smallest area in km² of a municipality in Sweden, which means that for groups with fewer grid cells than this, the entire municipality is definitely not included in the calibration dataset. In Figure 7, it is clear that the average deviation in a group nears zero as the number of grid cells included in the grouping increases. This indicates that the model is more-accurate for larger geographic areas. All regions that include more than 350 grid cells have an

average deviation that is lower than $\pm 10\%$. Since 241 out of 290 municipalities have an area of 350 km² or more, most municipalities are represented sufficiently well for the studies to be performed if the calibration dataset is representative.



Figure 6. Error values (blue) and deviation values (red) of the transformer capacity averaged over all grid cells in the geographic grouping R1 to R7 (see Table 6 in Paper II). Definitions of 'error' and 'deviation' are provided in Paper II. Region names have been anonymized to prevent the identification of sensitive data received from grid operators. Source: Paper II.



Figure 7. Deviation values of the transformer capacity averaged over the grid cells in the municipalities (blue) and regions (orange) (y-axis) and the number of grid cells in the municipality or region (x-axis). The x-axis is logarithmic with a base of 10. A vertical dashed line is shown for nine grid cells, as the smallest municipality in Sweden has an area of approximately 9 km^2 . Source: **Paper II**.

The use of a synthetic grid representation allows for estimations of the hosting capacities in those cases where detailed information on the state of the grid is not publicly available. However, where possible, more-accurate results will naturally be achieved with real grid capacities. This means that a model such as REGAL can provide initial indications as to where and when problems will occur in the grid when adding, for example, EV charging (as is done in this work), although the model will seldom make predictions that are accurate for a small geographic area (such as 1 km²). As can be seen in the validation exercise, the model can make accurate predictions of transformer capacities when assessing the average deviation from real-world data for a larger area, such as a region. For a given population density, some grid cells will have a larger transformer capacity in the REGAL model than is evident from the data

provided by the grid operators, and some grid cells will have a smaller capacity. When the transformer capacity in the model is smaller than in reality the average number of timesteps with violations will be overestimated, whereas, in a grid cell with a larger transformer capacity, the average number of timesteps with violations will be underestimated. As the dimensioning of transformers has been calibrated to have a close-to-zero deviation, while ensuring that the errors are as small as possible on the grid cell level, this issue will to some degree cancel itself out, yielding correct average estimates for larger groups of grid cells.

Compared to previous studies (e.g., Schachler et al. [54] and Zhu et al. [47]), the work presented in this thesis is a clear improvement based on the extensive results obtained for the model validation, which increases the transparency levels of the strengths and weaknesses of the model and, thereby, the transparency related to which types of questions it can answer. In relation to studies of smaller areas with real grid capacities, the synthetic grid representation of a large geographic region increases the likelihood that the general conclusions will be correct but reduces the accuracy levels for specific areas. Therefore, the work included in this thesis is useful for drawing general conclusions about, for example, differences between charging strategies, and making an analysis from a societal perspective rather than answering specific questions about future loads in a grid cell.

4.3 The impacts of different charging strategies on the LV grid at different EV fleet shares Figures 8 and 9 show how the power system violations increase as the share of the passenger vehicles that are electrified increases for the three different charging strategies (with each symbol corresponding to one model run). Figure 8 shows the share of grid cells for which, statistically, there is on average one or more violation in a year. The figure shows a non-linear increase with EV fleet share. Figure 9 shows the average number of timesteps with a violation per grid cell, whereby the violations are averaged across all grid cells and iterations, with different randomized additions of household and EV load profiles. Figure 8 and 9 show thermal and voltage violations together. As can be seen in both figures, there is a strong increase in the number of power system violations when there is an increase in the share of EVs in the passenger vehicle fleet, regardless of the charging strategy applied. As expected, the direct charging strategy has the highest average number of violations, as well as the largest share of grid cells with violations among the three charging strategies. For the average number of timesteps with violations (Figure 9), the increase in violations with EV share initially progresses slowly, and becomes more rapid as the fleet share increases. The behavior evident in Figure 8, with the increase in the share of grid cells with violations being non-linear, is related to the different levels of excess capacity in the transformers. While the increase in the share of grid cells with violations is small in Figure 8, although the number of violations increases in Figure 9, the increase in number of violations occurs in grid cells that already have violations. This is seen between fleet shares of 50% and 100% in the direct charging strategy and between fleet shares of 75% and 100% in the cost-minimized charging strategy, where the number of violations increases in Figure 9, while the increase in the share of grid cells with violations is much smaller in Figure 8. In some grid cells, no power system violations occur even with large EV fleet shares.



Figure 8. The shares of grid cells with power system violations for the three charging strategies for the different shares of EVs investigated in this work. Both thermal and voltage violations are considered. Source: Paper III.



Figure 9. The number of timesteps with a power system violation per grid cell averaged over the number of iterations for the three charging strategies and the different fleet shares of EVs. Both thermal and voltage violations are considered. Source: *Paper III.*

The violations that occur as the EV fleet share increases are not evenly distributed across the modeled grid cells. Even with a high level of EV penetration, some grid cells have no power system violations, while in other grid cells violations occur already at a low EV fleet share. As an example, Figure 10 shows the share of grid cells that manifest a number of timesteps with thermal violations in the transformer above a certain value when adding EV charging, averaged across all the iterations. The number on the *x*-axis corresponds to the number of timesteps during a year in which a thermal violation in the transformer occurs, averaged over all the iterations. As can be seen, most of the thermal violations in the transformers occur in the groups with a high population density (i.e., city and urban grid cells), for all three charging strategies. The value obtained for all the grid cells together is similar to that for the group of rural grid cells, as the number of grid cells in the rural group is much higher than in the other groups. For the direct charging strategy (Figure 10a), the majority of the city and urban grid cells have a number of timesteps with >100 violations/year (corresponding to a total of 16 hours and 40 minutes), and more than one-third of the urban grid cells and a majority of the city grid cells have a number of timesteps with >100 violations/year (corresponding to a total of 6 days, 22 hours and 40

minutes). For the cost-minimized charging strategy (Figure 10b), a lower number of timesteps with thermal violations is achieved, as compared to the direct charging strategy. The mixed charging strategy has shares of grid cells with violations that are intermediate to the values seen for the other two charging strategies.



Figure 10. Shares of grid cells with thermal violations in the transformer above a certain value when adding EV charging (with 100% of the current vehicle fleet electrified) for the (a) Direct charging, (b) Cost-minimized charging, and (c) Mixed charging strategies. The results are shown for rural, urban, and city areas, as well as for all grid cells. The results shown are the average values across all iterations. Source: Paper III.

The results obtained from the model show that the number of power system violations within a grid cell when adding EV charging to the synthetic representation of LV grids varies substantially across different grid cells. As expected, there is a steep increase in the number of violations with increasing EV fleet share. However, even with a high level of EV penetration, some grid cells experience no power system violations, while in other grid cells violations occur already at a low EV fleet share. The non-linear shape of the increase in both fleet share and number of violations is not as expected. The shape of Figure 8 shows an early increase in the share of grid cells with violations, which later flattens out only to increase again. Furthermore, we know from the validation and model formulation in **Paper II** that there is a lower percentual margin of transformer capacity in urban and city grid cells. Moreover, we know from Figure 10 that transformer violations are much more common in urban and grid cells. This could be an indication that the city and urban grid cells are beginning to achieve violations at low EV fleet shares. However, since the urban and city cells account for a very small share of the total number of grid cells, this is not the full picture.

To investigate what happens at low EV fleet shares, some additional results (not included in the appended papers) for lower EV fleet shares are shown for the direct charging strategy. In similarity to Figure 10, Figure 11 shows the share of grid cells that manifest a number of timesteps with thermal

violations in the transformer above a certain value when adding EV charging, averaged across all the iterations, but with different EV fleet shares (25%, 50%, 75% or 100%). It shows that thermal violations appear in a substantial number of the urban and city grid cells with an EV fleet share as low as 25%, albeit for fewer timesteps than with higher fleet shares. Figure 12 shows the shares of grid cells that achieve different numbers of voltage violations with EV fleet shares of 25%, 50%, 75%, and 100 %. Considering Figure 11 and Figure 12 together, it can be concluded that violations appear early in all types of grid cells. For thermal violations, they occur mainly in urban and city grid cells, while rural grid cells are more affected by voltage violations. However, for both types of violations, the number of timesteps in which issues occur is much lower with a smaller fleet share of EVs. Regarding the results for all grid cells together in Figure 11 and Figure 12, it is clear that most of the grid cells with violations for small fleet shares in Figure 8 stem from voltage violations in rural grid cells, although the grid cells in which thermal violations occur have a higher number of timesteps in which these violations occur. This means that despite the share of grid cells in which violations occur being mostly affected by voltage violations, the average number of timesteps with violations (shown as a function of EV fleet share in Figure 9) is also affected by the thermal violations, as the grid cells with thermal violations have a higher number of timesteps in which they appear.





Figure 11. Shares of grid cells with thermal violations in the transformer above a certain value when adding EV charging at four different EV fleet shares: (a) 25%, (b) 50%, (c) 75%, or (c) 100% of the current vehicle fleet electrified for the Direct charging strategy. (a), (b) and (c) are new results, not included in previous papers. The results are shown for rural, urban, and city areas, as well as for all grid cells. The results shown are the average values across all iterations. Results for the 25%, 50%, and 75% EV fleet shares are new results generated for this introductory essay, while the results for 100% EV fleet share are from **Paper III**.



Figure 12. Shares of grid cells with voltage violations in the transformer above a certain value when adding EV charging at four different EV fleet shares: (a) 25%, (b) 50%, (c) 75%, and (c) 100% of the current vehicle fleet electrified for the Direct charging strategy. Panels (a), (b) and (c) represent new results that are not included in the appended papers. The results are shown for rural, urban, and city areas, as well as for all grid cells. The results shown are the average values across all iterations. The results for the 25%, 50%, and 75% EV fleet shares are new results derived for this introductory essay, while the results for 100% EV fleet share are presented in **Paper III**.

4.4 Limitations of the REGAL model

The REGAL model only considers residential loads, which is a weakness of the model. Nonetheless, this was deemed sufficient to answer the studied question, as home charging is by definition introduced in homes. However, dimensioning the grid exclusively for residential loads means that the model does not take into account the spare transformer capacity linked to commercial or industrial needs. Typically, larger industrial applications will be connected at a higher voltage level, so they are not relevant to consider for an LV grid, even though commercial loads are present in many LV grids. Excluding these industrial loads may overestimate or underestimate the grid capacity, depending on the coincidence of EV charging and the loads not included in the model.

The modeling in this work considers household loads and EV loads separately. As the charging profiles do not consider the size of the fuse installed in a home, they do not take into consideration that a smart home charger can monitor the overall load in the home and alter the charging power to reduce the total home peak load. As houses typically have a fixed fuse size and there are EV chargers that can take this into account, the present work may have overestimated the maximum power levels of individual households when adding the EV load. Thus, integrating the household and EV loads into the modeling would improve the accuracy of the results, albeit at the expense of dramatically increased computational time.

EVs are assumed to be used at the locations where passenger vehicles are currently registered as operating in traffic. This might not be an accurate assumption, as there might be households today that

possess more passenger vehicles than are used regularly, meaning that not all passenger vehicles in the household would need to be charged at the same frequency as a vehicle that is used by a household with fewer vehicles per driver. Furthermore, vehicles may be charged in residential buildings at which the owner of the vehicle is not registered to live, such as a vacation home. It is also possible that in the future a large proportion of the population in some areas will choose not to own or use a vehicle to the same extent as today (for example, in cities with increasing populations).

The EVs in this modeling study all have the same battery size, same electricity consumption per kilometer-driven, and the same maximum power of their home charger. However, in reality, this is not the case, as there exists a multitude of capacities for these features. These assumptions could affect the results in several ways. For example, having a larger battery size can increase flexibility with regards to when charging occurs, while a higher maximum power of charging may increase the load peaks from EV charging. Furthermore, the charging patterns are based on ICE vehicles, for which the driving patterns and other behavioral factors could differ. Therefore, one way to improve this study would be to use the vehicle logs of actual EVs, which could be selected to be representative with regards to vehicle properties, but also with regards to the socioeconomic characteristics of the vehicle owner. Using a linear optimization model to generate the EV load profiles for the cost-minimized charging strategy raises additional issues. First, the model assumes perfect foresight for all decisions, meaning that all the marginal electricity prices for the entire model scope are already known when deciding when the EVs are charged. In contrast, real-life EV owners might know only the day-ahead electricity spot price. This limited foresight might cause EV owners to prioritize charging earlier than in the model, as future prices are unknown. Second, the model will shift charging times based on any difference in electricity price, meaning that price differences that are too small to influence real behavior might have significant consequences in the model. Third, the charging profiles are generated using a model that has different geographic and temporal resolutions than the model applied in this study. The temporal resolution when generating the charging profiles has an hourly resolution and the geographic resolution is electricity price areas. When implementing the profiles in the REGAL model, it is assumed that charging is performed at a constant rate for all 10-minute timesteps within an hour. This might not be the case, which means that the charging profiles generated in this work might be smoother than reallife charging profiles, thereby decreasing the possible peaks in electricity demand for charging. This could underestimate the number of violations occurring in the distribution grid.

Further results in relation to the amplitude of exceedances of grid capacity and when in time they occur are described in **Paper III**. The work presented in **Paper III** explores in greater details the frequency and amplitude of the exceedances of grid capacity (compared to, for example, Zaferanlouei et al. [60] and Veldman et al. [50]). Thus, information other than that exceedances happen at certain levels of EVs in the vehicle fleet is available. This is a better starting point from which to explore the measures that could be taken to alleviate these issues.

4.5 General remarks

Electrification as a strategy to reduce environmental burden involves moving from a fuel-driven system to a material-driven system. The idea is that the trade-off between the increase in material use and the decrease in fuel use reduces pressures on ecological systems. However, there are many driving forces and multiple usage patterns, as well as several assumptions that influence the estimations of environmental pressures, as well as their eventual impacts. While these are not evaluated in this work, their existence and the need for further analysis are important to bear in mind and appreciate before drawing conclusions as to which system *should* be developed or which technologies are most-suitable overall.

Furthermore, a large share of the transport demand has a small or no value in its own right. Rather, the transportation demand arises from services to supply other needs, such as to connect a person with a demand for work (creating a commuting behavior to and from work). In that example, the demand is

related to enabling the person to work, not for them to drive a car between their home and work locations. This demand could be fulfilled in numerous ways, where from an energy point of view, the most-effective strategy might be to work from home if possible or otherwise to travel collectively. This relationship between the needed service and traffic volume has not been explored in this thesis, although it should be noted that switching to more-efficient forms of travel is beneficial from both the electricity and resource points of view, as compared with maintaining a large passenger vehicle fleet and high goods volumes if the desired services can be achieved without them.

5 Main findings

Three hydrogen supply systems were evaluated using a cost optimization model in **Paper I**, to gain insights into the cost of supplying hydrogen to the transport sector. The costs of hydrogen delivery are in the range of 2.2–6.7 €/kgH₂ in Sweden. The lowest cost for hydrogen delivery is achieved with the decentralized grid-connected supply system (Dec-Gc). From the comparison of decentralized and centralized grid-connected hydrogen supply systems (Cen-Gc and Dec-Gc), it can be concluded that, given the assumptions presented in **Paper I**, a centralized production system (Cen-Gc) is approximately 30%-40% more expensive than a decentralized grid-connected system (Dec-Gc) in Sweden. Although slightly lower costs for hydrogen production and storage are achieved in the Cen-Gc system, the additional cost for hydrogen transport to the refueling station results in a higher total cost. Thus, the higher cost for hydrogen transport offsets the advantage of having access to large-scale hydrogen storage. If there is an existing system for hydrogen transport (such as an existing system of hydrogen pipelines) that is used for other purposes, it might be more cost-effective to use that system. For the centralized system (Cen-Gc), an increase in electricity price variations between hours strengthens the business case for investments in larger and cheaper hydrogen storage solutions, which can enable shifts in hydrogen production to periods with low electricity prices. For future cases, the hydrogen production costs are 23%–42% lower than when assuming today's prices for the different hydrogen supply systems, for Swedish conditions. This is due to a combination of assumptions related to decreased investment costs (e.g., investment costs for electrolyzers) and lower costs for purchased electricity.

In **Paper II**, the REGAL model is presented and validated against a large dataset of real-world transformer capacities and electricity demands. Thus, open data describing the population and distribution of dwellings in Sweden can be used to estimate the electricity grid capacities for the LV grid. Different calibration values are explored and the levels of accuracy of estimations of grid capacities are calibrated using proprietary real-world data from distribution system operators (DSOs). Thus, for a region that includes many grid cells, an average deviation from the real-world data of $\pm 10\%$ is achieved. For an average grid cell, an error of 44.5% is seen, which means that the model is not suitable for analyses of an area of 1 km². However, the level of accuracy is deemed sufficient for initial estimations of hosting capacity for larger geographic areas, such as a region or a country.

The work in **Paper III** of this thesis shows that there is an increase in the number of power system violations in an LV grid that has an increased share of EVs in the vehicle fleet. Initially, the increase in the number of violations with increased fleet share proceeds slowly, though the larger the share of EVs in the vehicle fleet, the greater the increase in the number of violations for each additional vehicle. The number of timesteps with violations varies significantly across different geographic regions in Sweden. Even with a high level of EV penetration, some grid cells have no violations, while in other grid cells violations are recorded already at small EV fleet shares. Most violations are seen in areas that have a high population density, especially for violations that involve the thermal capacity of the transformers being exceeded. The choice of charging strategy, i.e., direct, cost-minimized or mixed charging, affects both how often and to what extent the operational limits of the grid are exceeded. On average, direct charging of EVs yields the highest frequency and largest amplitude of violations. However, the highest loading of a transformer and the largest voltage drop in a grid cell are achieved with a charging strategy that minimizes the costs for charging, as these increase the coincidence of EV charging.

6 Future work

The integration of electricity and transportation systems is a broad topic, with many issues to be explored in future research studies. Some aspects of future research that have been identified during this work are presented below.

For hydrogen supply systems, the next step in this work could be to study sector coupling with industrial applications of hydrogen, to investigate the extents to which production and storage units could be shared. In addition, one could look at what supply systems for multiple refueling stations might look like and how optimization is impacted by studying different scopes, such as comparing the implementation optimization of one or several refueling stations or of a country or a continent. If adopting a larger geographic scope, it would be beneficial to consider also the locations of refueling stations in relation to each other and to road networks.

For direct electrification, the modeled charging strategies in this work have focused on unidirectional charging. However, since a car battery has the potential to work as a storage unit for electricity, and as more and more vehicles are equipped to enable V2G, it seems likely that bidirectional charging will be an option in the future. This could both improve and exacerbate the problems observed for the LV grid depending on when the charging and discharging of the vehicle battery occur. The different types of signals upon which V2G is performed are therefore interesting to study, alongside the issues that might arise for the LV grid.

Strong focus has been placed on quantifying the issues that are likely to occur in the LV grid. A natural continuation of this work would, therefore, be to explore how these issues could be alleviated. After identification of the specific measures that are technically possible for the alleviation of such issues, further work could examine the cost-efficiency and resource-efficiency of the different measures, as well as which actors have the possibility to implement these measures. In addition, other technologies, , such as stationary batteries and solar PV, are likely to be introduced into residential LV grids. It would be beneficial to include such technologies in the model, to see how interactions between the different technologies affect the issues that are likely to occur and the possible alleviation methods.

When assessing the infrastructure development that is needed to enable the electrification of transport, the resource-efficiencies and environmental burdens of different solutions warrant study. As ICE cars are progressively phased out, the environmental burden is shifted towards material use, increasing the role and importance of estimated embodied emissions, something that has not yet been addressed in this context.

References

- 1. IRENA, I.R.E.A.: Transport, https://www.irena.org/Energy-Transition/Technology/Transport
- 2. Eurostat: Final energy consumption by sector, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/nrg bal s/
- 3. European Commission: A European Strategy for Low-Emission Mobility., Brussels (2016)
- 4. European Commission: EU transport in figures. , Luxembourg (2021)
- 5. Iea: Transport, (2021)
- 6. European Environment Agency: New registrations of electric vehicles in Europe, https://www.eea.europa.eu/en/analysis/indicators/new-registrations-of-electric-vehicles
- Marchenko, O. V., Solomin, S. V.: The future energy: Hydrogen versus electricity. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 40, 3801–3805 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2015.01.132
- Samsun, R., Rex, M., Antoni, L., Stolten, D.: Deployment of Fuel Cell Vehicles and Hydrogen Refueling Station Infrastructure: A Global Overview and Perspectives. Energies (Basel). 15, 4975 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/en15144975
- 9. Aryanpur, V., Rogan, F.: Decarbonising road freight transport: The role of zero-emission trucks and intangible costs. Sci Rep. 14, 2113 (2024). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-52682-4
- 10. Iea: Trucks and buses, https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport/trucks-and-buses
- 11. Iea: The future of hydrogen. (2019)
- Moriarty, P., Honnery, D.: Prospects for hydrogen as a transport fuel. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 44, 16029–16037 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.04.278
- 13. European Commission: A hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe., Brussels (2020)
- 14. Li, S., Kang, Q., Baeyens, J., Zhang, H.L., Deng, Y.M.: Hydrogen Production: State of Technology. In: IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science (2020)
- Abdalla, A.M., Hossain, S., Nisfindy, O.B., Azad, A.T., Dawood, M., Azad, A.K.: Hydrogen production, storage, transportation and key challenges with applications: A review. Energy Convers Manag. 165, 602–627 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2018.03.088
- Acar, C., Dincer, I.: Comparative assessment of hydrogen production methods from renewable and non-renewable sources. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 39, 1–12 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2013.10.060
- 17. Regulation 2023/1804: Regulation (EU) 2023/1804 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 September 2023 on the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure. (2023)
- Siyal, S.H., Mentis, D., Howells, M.: Economic analysis of standalone wind-powered hydrogen refueling stations for road transport at selected sites in Sweden. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 40, 9855–9865 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.05.021
- Tang, O., Rehme, J., Cerin, P.: Levelized cost of hydrogen for refueling stations with solar PV and wind in Sweden: On-grid or off-grid? ENERGY. 241, (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.122906

- Janssen, J.L.L.C.C., Weeda, M., Detz, R.J., van der Zwaan, B.: Country-specific cost projections for renewable hydrogen production through off-grid electricity systems. Appl Energy. 309, 118398 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2021.118398
- Nugroho, R., Rose, P.K., Gnann, T., Wei, M.: Cost of a potential hydrogen-refueling network for heavy-duty vehicles with long-haul application in Germany 2050. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 46, 35459–35478 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.08.088
- Southall, G.D., Khare, A.: The feasibility of distributed hydrogen production from renewable energy sources and the financial contribution from UK motorists on environmental grounds. Sustain Cities Soc. 26, 134–149 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2016.05.009
- Gökçek, M., Kale, C.: Optimal design of a Hydrogen Refuelling Station (HRFS) powered by Hybrid Power System. Energy Convers Manag. 161, 215–224 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENCONMAN.2018.02.007
- Perna, A., Minutillo, M., di Micco, S., Jannelli, E.: Design and Costs Analysis of Hydrogen Refuelling Stations Based on Different Hydrogen Sources and Plant Configurations. Energies (Basel). 15, 541 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/en15020541
- 25. Nistor, S., Dave, S., Fan, Z., Sooriyabandara, M.: Technical and economic analysis of hydrogen refuelling. Appl Energy. 167, 211–220 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2015.10.094
- Ulleberg, Ø., Hancke, R.: Techno-economic calculations of small-scale hydrogen supply systems for zero emission transport in Norway. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 45, 1201–1211 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2019.05.170
- Okonkwo, P.C., Mansir, I.B., Barhoumi, E.M., Emori, W., Radwan, A.B., Shakoor, R.A., Uzoma, P.C., Pugalenthi, M.R.: Utilization of renewable hybrid energy for refueling station in Al-Kharj, Saudi Arabia. Int J Hydrogen Energy. 47, 22273–22284 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHYDENE.2022.05.040
- Rose, P.K., Neumann, F.: Hydrogen refueling station networks for heavy-duty vehicles in future power systems. Transp Res D Transp Environ. 83, 102358 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRD.2020.102358
- 29. Toktarova, A.: Electrification of the basic materials industry, (2023)
- 30. European Commission: Mobility strategy and action plan. (2021)
- Nazari-Heris, M., Abapour, M., Mohammadi-Ivatloo, B.: An Updated Review and Outlook on Electric Vehicle Aggregators in Electric Energy Networks. Sustainability. 14, 15747 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/su142315747
- Kumar, M., Panda, K.P., Naayagi, R.T., Thakur, R., Panda, G.: Comprehensive Review of Electric Vehicle Technology and Its Impacts: Detailed Investigation of Charging Infrastructure, Power Management, and Control Techniques. Applied Sciences. 13, 8919 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3390/app13158919
- Nour, M., Chaves-Ávila, J.P., Magdy, G., Sánchez-Miralles, Á.: Review of Positive and Negative Impacts of Electric Vehicles Charging on Electric Power Systems. Energies (Basel). 13, 4675 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/en13184675
- Hedegaard, K., Ravn, H., Juul, N., Meibom, P.: Effects of electric vehicles on power systems in Northern Europe. Energy. 48, 356–368 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2012.06.012

- Taljegard, M., Walter, V., Göransson, L., Odenberger, M., Johnsson, F.: Impact of electric vehicles on the cost-competitiveness of generation and storage technologies in the electricity system. Environmental Research Letters. 14, 124087 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab5e6b
- Luthander, R., Shepero, M., Munkhammar, J., Widén, J.: Photovoltaics and opportunistic electric vehicle charging in the power system – a case study on a Swedish distribution grid. IET Renewable Power Generation. 13, 710–716 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-rpg.2018.5082
- 37. Svenska kraftnät: Sveriges elnät, https://www.svk.se/om-kraftsystemet/oversikt-avkraftsystemet/sveriges-elnat/
- Söder, L., Ghandhari, M.: Static Analysis of Power Systems. Electric Power Systems Royal Institute of Technology (2015)
- Ringkjøb, H.-K., Haugan, P.M., Solbrekke, I.M.: A review of modelling tools for energy and electricity systems with large shares of variable renewables. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 96, 440–459 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.08.002
- Pfenninger, S., Hawkes, A., Keirstead, J.: Energy systems modeling for twenty-first century energy challenges. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 33, 74–86 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2014.02.003
- 41. Andersson, G.: Power System Analysis. EEH Power Systems Laboratory, ETH Zürich (2012)
- Umoh, V., Davidson, I., Adebiyi, A., Ekpe, U.: Methods and Tools for PV and EV Hosting Capacity Determination in Low Voltage Distribution Networks—A Review. Energies (Basel). 16, 3609 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3390/en16083609
- Carmelito, B.E., Filho, J.M. de C.: Hosting Capacity of Electric Vehicles on LV/MV Distribution Grids—A New Methodology Assessment. Energies (Basel). 16, 1509 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3390/en16031509
- Zain ul Abideen, M., Ellabban, O., Al-Fagih, L.: A Review of the Tools and Methods for Distribution Networks' Hosting Capacity Calculation. Energies (Basel). 13, 2758 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/en13112758
- 45. Mulenga, E., Bollen, M.H.J., Etherden, N.: A review of hosting capacity quantification methods for photovoltaics in low-voltage distribution grids. International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems. 115, 105445 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJEPES.2019.105445
- 46. Leou, R., Teng, J., Lu, H., Lan, B., Chen, H., Hsieh, T., Su, C.: Stochastic analysis of electric transportation charging impacts on power quality of distribution systems. IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution. 12, 2725–2734 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2018.0112
- Zhu, J., Nacmanson, W.J., Ochoa, L.F., Hellyer, B.: Assessing the EV Hosting Capacity of Australian Urban and Rural MV-LV Networks. Electric Power Systems Research. 212, 108399 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EPSR.2022.108399
- Zuluaga-Ríos, C.D., Villa-Jaramillo, A., Saldarriaga-Zuluaga, S.D.: Evaluation of Distributed Generation and Electric Vehicles Hosting Capacity in Islanded DC Grids Considering EV Uncertainty. Energies (Basel). 15, 7646 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/en15207646
- Fan, S., Li, C., Wei, Z., Pu, T., Liu, X.: Method to determine the maximum generation capacity of distribution generation in low-voltage distribution feeders. The Journal of Engineering. 2017, 944–948 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1049/joe.2017.0470

- Veldman, E., Verzijlbergh, R.A.: Distribution Grid Impacts of Smart Electric Vehicle Charging From Different Perspectives. IEEE Trans Smart Grid. 6, 333–342 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2014.2355494
- 51. Amme, J., Pleßmann, G., Bühler, J., Hülk, L., Kötter, E., Schwaegerl, P.: The eGo grid model: An open-source and open-data based synthetic medium-voltage grid model for distribution power supply systems. J Phys Conf Ser. 977, 012007 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/977/1/012007
- Hartvigsson, E., Odenberger, M., Chen, P., Nyholm, E.: Generating low-voltage grid proxies in order to estimate grid capacity for residential end-use technologies: The case of residential solar PV. MethodsX. 8, 101431 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MEX.2021.101431
- 53. Nacmanson, W.J., Zhu, J., Ochoa, L.: Milestone 6: Network Modelling and EV Impact Assessment. , Melbourne (2021)
- Schachler, B., Heider, A., Röpke, T., Reinke, F., Bakker, C.: Assessing the impacts of marketoriented electric vehicle charging on german distribution grids. In: 5th E-Mobility Power System Integration Symposium (EMOB 2021). pp. 128–136. Institution of Engineering and Technology (2021)
- Dogan, A., Kuzlu, M., Pipattanasomporn, M., Rahman, S., Yalcinoz, T.: Impact of EV charging strategies on peak demand reduction and load factor improvement. In: 2015 9th International Conference on Electrical and Electronics Engineering (ELECO). pp. 374–378. IEEE (2015)
- 56. Sortomme, E., El-Sharkawi, M.A.: Optimal Charging Strategies for Unidirectional Vehicle-to-Grid. IEEE Trans Smart Grid. 2, 131–138 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2010.2090910
- Heinisch, V., Göransson, L., Erlandsson, R., Hodel, H., Johnsson, F., Odenberger, M.: Smart electric vehicle charging strategies for sectoral coupling in a city energy system. Appl Energy. 288, 116640 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2021.116640
- 58. Hedegaard, K., Ravn, H., Juul, N., Meibom, P.: Effects of electric vehicles on power systems in Northern Europe. Energy. 48, 356–368 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENERGY.2012.06.012
- 59. Muratori, M.: Impact of uncoordinated plug-in electric vehicle charging on residential power demand. Nat Energy. 3, 193–201 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-017-0074-z
- Zaferanlouei, S., Lakshmanan, V., Bjarghov, S., Farahmand, H., Korpås, M.: BATTPOWER application: Large-scale integration of EVs in an active distribution grid – A Norwegian case study. Electric Power Systems Research. 209, 107967 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EPSR.2022.107967
- Steen, D., Tuan, L.A., Carlson, O., Bertling, L.: Assessment of Electric Vehicle Charging Scenarios Based on Demographical Data. IEEE Trans Smart Grid. 3, 1457–1468 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2012.2195687
- Hanemann, P., Behnert, M., Bruckner, T.: Effects of electric vehicle charging strategies on the German power system. Appl Energy. 203, 608–622 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APENERGY.2017.06.039
- Box, G.E.P.: Robustness in the Strategy of Scientific Model Building. Robustness in Statistics. 201–236 (1979). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-438150-6.50018-2
- 64. Box, G.E.P.: Science and Statistics. J Am Stat Assoc. 71, 791 (1976). https://doi.org/10.2307/2286841

- 65. Göransson, L.: Balancing Electricity Supply and Demand in a Carbon-Neutral Northern Europe. Energies (Basel). 16, 3548 (2023). https://doi.org/10.3390/en16083548
- 66. Björnsson, L.H.: Car movement patterns and the PHEV, (2017)